Public Document Pack

AGENDA
HOUSING SCRUTINY PANEL
Date:

Thursday, 28 October 2021

Time:

6.00 pm

Venue:

Collingwood Room - Civic Offices

Members:
Councillor

Mrs K Mandry (Chairman)

Councillor

N R Gregory (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors

S Dugan
G Fazackarley
Mrs C L A Hockley
Ms S Pankhurst
Mrs K K Trott

Deputies:

Mrs L E Clubley
L Keeble
G Kelly

Page 1

1.

Apologies for Absence

2.

Minutes (Pages 5 - 8)
To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the Housing Scrutiny Panel meeting
held on 16 September 2021.

3.

Chairman's Announcements

4.

Declarations of Interest and Disclosures of Advice or Directions
To receive any declarations of interest from members in accordance with Standing
Orders and the Council’s Code of Conduct and disclosures of advice or directions
received from Group Leaders or Political Groups, in accordance with the Council’s
Constitution.

5.

Deputations
To receive any deputations of which notice has been lodged.

6.

Executive Business (Pages 9 - 10)
To consider any item of business dealt with by the Executive since the last meeting
of the Panel that falls under the remit of the Housing Portfolio. This will include any
decisions taken by the Executive Member during the same time period.

7.

(1)

External Redecoration Contract (ED0054) - Award of Tender (Pages 11 12)

(2)

Local Authority Delivery Phase 2 (LAD2) Funding Scheme for energy
efficiency measures to Council homes (Pages 13 - 14)

(3)

Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy - Consultation (Pages
15 - 16)

Fareham Housing Development Sites Update (Pages 17 - 22)
To receive a report by the Head of Housing Delivery which outlines the current
position with Fareham Housing development sites.

8.

Responsibilities of Social Housing Providers (Pages 23 - 24)
To receive a presentation by the Head of Housing and Benefits which outlines the
responsibilities of social housing providers and measurement of service delivery.

9.

Cleaning Contract Standards for Council owned flats (Pages 25 - 30)
To receive a report by the Head of Housing and Benefits which outlines the cleaning
contract standards for Council owned flats in the Borough and explains how these
standards are monitored.

10. First Homes Scheme Update (Pages 31 - 38)

Page 2

To receive a report which provides an update for Members on the First Homes
Scheme.
11. Housing Scrutiny Panel Priorities
To provide an opportunity for Members to consider the scrutiny priorities for the
Housing Panel.

P GRIMWOOD
Chief Executive Officer
Civic Offices
www.fareham.gov.uk
12 October 2021

For further information please contact:
Democratic Services, Civic Offices, Fareham, PO16 7AZ
Tel:01329 236100
democraticservices@fareham.gov.uk

Page 3

Agenda Item 2

Minutes of the
Housing Scrutiny Panel
(to be confirmed at the next meeting)
Date:

Thursday, 16 September 2021

Venue:

Council Chamber - Civic Offices

PRESENT:
Councillor
Councillor

N R Gregory (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors:

S Dugan, Mrs C L A Hockley, Ms S Pankhurst and Mrs K K Trott

Also
Present:

Councillor F Birkett, Executive Member for Housing

Page 5

Housing Scrutiny Panel

1.

16 September 2021

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Mrs K Mandry and G
Fazackarley.

2.

MINUTES
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Housing Scrutiny Panel meeting held on
08 July 2021 be confirmed and signed as a correct record.

3.

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
The Chairman announced that, as part of the Council’s objectives to make
Council homes greener, he was pleased to advise that officers will be looking
to access Local Authority Delivery Phase 2 government funding, known as
LAD2. This funding will pay two thirds of the overall costs towards making
some energy efficiency improvements to a number of Council homes,
contributing to the Council’s objectives around greener homes and also
helping to improve the comfort and costs for tenants. Officers intend to take a
full report in respect of this funding to the Council’s October meeting of the
Executive.

4.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND DISCLOSURES OF ADVICE OR
DIRECTIONS
There were no declarations of interest made at this meeting.

5.

DEPUTATIONS
There were no deputations made at this meeting.

6.

EXECUTIVE BUSINESS
There were no items of Executive business for consideration at this meeting.

7.

DRAFT HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH SLEEPING STRATEGY
The Panel considered a report by the Head of Housing and Benefits which
presented the draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy for Members’
consideration and comment.
Following discussion and review of the draft policy, members commented that
it had been a very good idea to commission the independent review of
homelessness services provided by the Council and commended the Housing
officers for the excellent service provided to residents.
The Panel was fully supportive of the draft Strategy and had no suggested
amendments to make.
Members requested that, as this will be a long term, rolling strategy, an annual
review of progress be added to the scrutiny priorities for the Panel.

Page 6

Housing Scrutiny Panel

16 September 2021

RESOLVED that the Housing Scrutiny Panel agrees that:
(a) the draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy be
recommended to the Executive for approval to commence a period of
public consultation; and
(b) once approved, an annual review of the Strategy be added to the
scrutiny priorities for the Panel.
8.

AFFORDABLE HOME OWNERSHIP UPDATE
The Panel received a presentation by the Head of Housing Delivery in respect
of Affordable home ownership and the introduction of the First Homes scheme.
A copy of the presentation is attached to these minutes as Appendix A.
The presentation highlighted that the First Homes Scheme has a set of
national eligibility criteria which can be supplemented by locally agreed criteria
set by the Council. Due to the short timescales for implementation of the First
Homes Scheme, members were invited to submit any suggested local criteria
to officers, via the Chairman, so that they can be considered for inclusion in a
potential First Homes Policy for approval by the Executive.
As this is a new and emerging scheme, members requested that an update be
provided at the next meeting.
RESOLVED that the Housing Scrutiny Panel:
(a) notes the content of the presentation; and
(b) agrees that an update on the Scheme be provided at the next meeting.

9.

HOUSING SCRUTINY PANEL PRIORITIES
Members considered and discussed the Scrutiny Priorities for the Panel and
agreed the following additions to the Scrutiny Priorities Plan:
(i) An annual review of the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy
(ii) An update on the First Homes Scheme at the next meeting of the Panel
(iii) A future update on progress with the objective of making Council owned
homes greener.
Members asked that it be noted on record that the recently completed
development at Rose Court is brilliant and that the Panel is delighted with its
success.
RESOLVED that the Housing Scrutiny Panel agrees that items (i) to (iii) as
outlined above be added to the Scrutiny Priorities Plan for the Panel.
(The meeting started at 6.01 pm
and ended at 7.19 pm).
Page 7

Housing Scrutiny Panel

16 September 2021

Page 8

Agenda Item 6

Report to
Housing Scrutiny Panel
Date

28 October 2021

Subject:

EXECUTIVE BUSINESS

.
SUMMARY
One of the key functions of this Scrutiny Panel is to hold the Executive Portfolio Holder and
Senior Officers to account in the delivery of the service and the Improvement Actions identified
in the Council’s Corporate Priorities and Corporate Vision.
Members are therefore invited to consider the items of business which fall under the remit of
the Housing portfolio and have been dealt with by the Executive since the last meeting of the
Panel. This also includes any decisions taken by individual Executive Members.
The relevant notices for decisions taken are attached for consideration.

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that Members consider the items of Business discharged by the Executive
since the last meeting of the Panel and make any comments or raise any questions for
clarification.

Page 9

Agenda Item 6(1)

FAREHAM
BOROUGH COUNCIL
2021/22
Decision No.
2296

Record of Decision by Executive
Tuesday, 21 September 2021
Portfolio

Housing

Subject:

External Redecoration Contract (ED0054) - Award of
Tender

Report of:

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Corporate Priority:

Dynamic, prudent and progressive Council

Purpose:
To consider the tenders received and to award a contract for external, redecoration
and associated repairs to council owned properties across the borough for financial
years 2020/2021 to 2027/2028.

Options Considered:
As recommendation.

Decision:
RESOLVED that the Executive agrees to award a contract to the contractor
achieving the highest scoring tender based on quality and cost as detailed in the
confidential Appendix A to the report.

Reason:
To continue to manage and maintain homes and council owned assets by means of
a cyclical programme of external redecoration and associated repairs.

Confirmed as a true record:
Councillor SDT Woodward (Executive Leader)

Tuesday, 21 September 2021

Page 11

Agenda Item 6(2)

FAREHAM
BOROUGH COUNCIL
2021/22
Decision No.
2306

Record of Decision by Executive
Monday, 11 October 2021
Portfolio

Housing

Subject:

Local Authority Delivery Phase 2 (LAD2) Funding
scheme for energy efficiency measures to Council
homes

Report of:

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Corporate Priority:

Providing Housing Choices

Purpose:
To provide an overview of the LAD2 funding opportunity which will improve the
energy efficiency of many Council homes.
The second phase of the Local Authority Delivery Scheme (LAD) was launched in
spring 2021 and is now open for applications. This funding is aimed at improving the
energy efficiency of homes for low-income households. This would typically consist
of improvements to insultation or, in some instances, installation of solar panels.
The scheme in Fareham is being co-ordinated by the SW Energy Hub and will be
delivered by City Energy.
The Council would be required to fund up to £5,000 or 1/3 of the works, per property;
LAD2 funding will typically cover the remaining 2/3 of the costs of the improvement
measures. A total budget of £150,000 will be incorporated into the HRA capital
programme over the next 2-3 financial years to ensure this funding opportunity can
be utilised.
This report seeks approval to enter into an appropriate contract with City Energy for
works to the Council’s social housing stock. Approval is also sought for the funding
arrangements, incorporated into the HRA capital programme over the next 2-3
financial years.

Options Considered:
As recommendation.

Page 13

Decision:
RESOLVED that the Executive agrees:
(a) that entering into a contract for the works which facilitate the use of LAD2
funding be delegated to the Deputy Chief Executive Officer; and
(b) the funding mechanisms to meet the Council’s contribution towards the costs
of the works.

Reason:
To meet the commitments in the Housing Greener Policy and the Fareham Borough
Council Climate Change Action Plan.

Confirmed as a true record:
Councillor SDT Woodward (Executive Leader)

Monday, 11 October 2021

Page 14

Agenda Item 6(3)

FAREHAM
BOROUGH COUNCIL
2021/22
Decision No.
2305

Record of Decision by Executive
Monday, 11 October 2021
Portfolio

Housing

Subject:

Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy Consultation

Report of:

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Corporate Priority:

Providing Housing Choices

Purpose:
To approve the draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy for an eight-week
period of public consultation.
The Homelessness Act 2002 requires all housing authorities to review homelessness
in their area and produce a new homelessness strategy, based on the review
findings, every five years. Following a comprehensive review of homelessness in
Fareham, a new Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy is now proposed.
The draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2022-2025 can be found at
Appendix A and a draft Delivery Plan can be found at Appendix B.
The review of Homelessness in Fareham, undertaken by Neil Morland & Co Housing
Consultants, considered all the activities being carried out to tackle homelessness in
the Borough and assessed whether the activities are reflective of good practice,
deliver good outcomes for people experiencing homelessness, and are of value for
money.
The Strategy has been drafted using the results of the research, data analysis and
benchmarking. It has also been developed through consultation with key partners,
staff, service users and elected Members. Full details can be found in The Review
of Homelessness in Fareham at Appendix C.
The Strategy builds on the successes of the previous strategy and has been
developed in the context of the new provisions and duties of the Homelessness
Reduction Act 2017 which came into force in April 2018 and the Government’s
Rough Sleeping Strategy 2018-27.
This draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy is recommended for
publication for an eight-week period of public consultation. This will provide the local
community and other interested parties with the opportunity to comment on the
content of the Strategy and accompanying Delivery Plan. Following this period, and
Page 15

once any necessary amendments are incorporated, it is intended that the
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy will be presented to the Executive for
adoption.
An equality Impact Assessment of the Strategy will be undertaken before it is
recommended for adoption.

Options Considered:
At the invitation of the Executive Leader, Councillor Mrs K K Trott addressed the
Executive on this item.
As recommendation.

Decision:
RESOLVED that the Executive agrees that:
(a) the draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy, as provided in
Appendix A to the report, and accompanying Delivery Plan, as provided in
Appendix B to the report, are published for an eight-week period of public
consultation; and
(b) the Deputy Chief Executive Officer, following consultation with the Executive
Member for Housing is authorised to make any necessary minor amendments
to the draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy and accompanying
Delivery Plan, prior to publication, provided these do not change the overall
direction or emphasis.

Reason:
To undertake a period of public consultation as part of the ongoing progression of
the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy.

Confirmed as a true record:
Councillor SDT Woodward (Executive Leader)

Monday, 11 October 2021

Page 16

Agenda Item 7

Report to
Housing Scrutiny Panel
Date

28th October 2021

Report of:

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Subject:

Fareham Housing Development Site updates

.
SUMMARY
This report provides an update on the current and emerging Fareham Housing
development sites.
RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that the Panel note and consider the content of this report and
make any comments or raise any questions for clarification.

Page 17

INTRODUCTION
1. The purpose of this report is to the provide Members of the Panel with an overview and
update on the position with the Fareham Housing development sites.
2. The report focuses on sites that have been progressing since 2018, when a Strategic
Housing function returned to the Fareham Housing department. An overview of each
site is provided.
3. There are 17 sites referred to in this report. The sites vary in scale, property type and
tenure. It includes regeneration and redevelopment opportunities as well as smaller
schemes designed to meet some of the more bespoke need from the Council’s
Housing Register. The sites are listed in approximate order as to their progress/stage
toward development.
COMPLETED SITES
4. Oak Tree Close (land at 123 Bridge Road)







5No. houses (2No. 3-bed and 3No. 2-bed)
Mix of Social and Affordable Rent
Contractor: Ascia Construction
Completed in summer 2020
Main funding source: HRA Capital Development Fund & Homes England grant
Homes England grant met approximately 25% of the project costs

5. Rose Court (Highlands Road)







18No. flats (8No. 2-bed and 10No. 1-bed)
All flats as Social Rent
Contractor: FE Chase Ltd.
Completed in summer 2021 (6No. flats completed earlier)
Main funding source: HRA Capital Development Fund & Homes England grant
Homes England grant met approximately 35% of the project costs

IMMINENT STARTS ON SITE
6. The following sites are those where planning permission is in place and a contractor is
appointed for the construction. Both sites listed below have been delayed due to the
complexity of the process surrounding securing a Section 278 agreement with
Hampshire County Council Highways. A Section 278 concerns the alterations and
improvements to the public highway. For example kerb positioning; footpath gradients;
drainage details, etc.
7. Capella Close (Stubbington Lane)








11No. Houses (2No. 3-bed, 7No. 2-bed and 2No. 1-bed)
All houses as Shared Ownership
Contractor appointed: FE Chase Ltd.
Estimated Start on Site: Nov/Dec 2021 (tbc)
Estimated Completion: Spring 2023
Main funding source: Borrowing & Homes England grant
Homes England grant to fund 15-20% of the project costs
Page 18

8. Sir Randal Cremer House (Station Road)








16No. Sheltered Flats (4No. 2-bed, 12No. 1-bed)
All flats Sheltered Housing (Affordable Rent)
Contractor appointed: Ascia Construction
Estimated Start on Site: tbc, subject to S278 agreement with HCC
Build Programme: 12-18 months
Main funding source: 1-4-1 receipts & charitable contribution
Includes a financial contribution from The Randal Cremer Cottages Trust

FORTHCOMING SITES
9. The following sites are being actively worked on. Some are close to a development
start and others are at the design stage.
10. Former Coldeast Scout Hut site






9No. flats (4No. 2-bed, 5No. 1-bed)
All flats for Shared Ownership
Planning Permission granted
Main funding source: Borrowing & Home England grant
Overview of Progress: Technical/detailed plans have now largely been
completed following the grant of planning consent. A Homes England grant
application for £387,000 has been submitted. Subject to the tender process
development should commence in 2022 with a build programme of 12-18
months.

11. Queens Road (former St Johns Ambulance site)









2No. family houses
Ground floor disabled accessible
Both properties to be Social Rent
Planning Permission granted
Main funding source: s106 monies & Homes England grant
Homes England grant of £172,000 (approx. 25% of project costs)
Beyond standard greener measures incorporated
Overview of Progress: Technical/detailed plans complete. Tender process will
potentially commence in coming months and construction to start in 2022. Build
programme of up to 12 months anticipated

12. Crossfell Walk development






Demolition of 2No. flyover flats and replacement with 1No. 3-bed house
Planning permission granted
Main funding source: Recycled funds from HRA disposals
Beyond standard greener measures incorporated
Overview of Progress: Contact with an adjacent Council tenant and a
leaseholder in relation to future demolition works is underway. Detailed timetable
for works to be developed in due course.

13. Sea Lane (private market sales)

Page 19







4No. self-build plots (for market sale)
Planning permission granted
Main funding source: Borrowing (to fund small costs associated with plot
servicing and demarcation). FBC profits on subsequent sales back into other
affordable housing delivery elsewhere
Deed of Variation required relating to the original purchase of site from Homes
England
Overview of Progress: Plots expected to be marketed at some point in 2022
(following demarcation of plots and service provision to site). Deed of Variation
with Homes England needs to be completed before plots can be marketed.

14. 92 Gordon Road (emergency housing)










9No. en-suite bedrooms
FBC completed the purchase of the property in September 2021 (benefitting
from stamp duty saving)
Planning permission will be needed for a change of use
Internal arrangements to be finalised, including various checks and fire risk
measures
Various minor works required including kitchen replacement, prior to occupation
Some repairs expected to roof
Management approach will be considered by Tenancy Services
Currently anticipated to the available for use during 2022
To provide emergency accommodation at an affordable rent (saving on B&B
costs and providing more suitable accommodation for the occupants)

15. Arundel Drive








2No. houses (part of purchase with 92 Gordon Road)
FBC completed the purchase in September 2021 (benefitting from stamp duty
saving)
Planning permission for change of use already in place (one property was
previously a care home and one was an office associated with the care home)
Internal works required to update and convert to family accommodation
Both properties to potentially include downstairs accessible bedroom/wet room
(bespoke accommodation)
Works anticipated to start late 2021/early 2022
Properties will be available as general-purpose Affordable Rent for households
on the Housing Register

16. Assheton Court





Tenant/public consultation on the initial draft plans will finish on the 1st
November 2021
Currently 33 flats, to be redeveloped to provide approximately 60 flats
Planning application on or before spring 2022 (allowing time to take on board
consultation feedback)
Redevelopment hoped to start in 2023

LONGER TERM SITES
17. The sites below are medium/longer term sites at various stages of progress.
Page 20

18. Wynton Way




Long standing potential housing site for up to 18 new homes
Social/Affordable Rent homes
Overview of Progress: Current uncertainty about extent of HCC land available
for purchase (causing current delay). Once land extent established and
purchase discussions with HCC progress, then expected to submit a planning
application

19. Menin House







Regeneration site
To provide in region of 45 new homes (depending on flat/house mix) in
replacement of existing building
Expected to be Affordable Rent homes
Discussions with 3No. leaseholders now commencing
Land assembly required (small number of garages and 3No. leaseholders)
Overview of Progress: This is a longer-term project with existing tenants and
leaseholders to consider. Once land assembly has/is progressing then an
architect will be appointed to design the redevelopment. Expected to involve
some local community consultation before a planning application is submitted.
Expecting that project will complete within next 5 years.

20. Henry Cort Drive






Housing/community site in the emerging Local Plan
Site to include a new community building, changing facilities, new play areas,
quality open space and new affordable housing
Potential for approximately 55 new homes
Homes expected to be predominately Affordable Rent
Overview of Progress: No progress to report at this stage. The first step is
expected to include Community Engagement around the initial ideas for the
wider site.

21. Redoubt Court





Housing development site in the emerging Local Plan
Potential for approximately 20 new homes
Homes expected to be predominately Affordable Rent
Overview of Progress: No progress to report at this stage. No architecture
services are expected to be appointed until at least 2022/23

22. Cams Alders




Housing development site in the emerging Local Plan
Potentially for a new core sheltered housing scheme and some in-fill
development for other affordable housing
Overview of Progress: No progress to report at this stage. No architecture
services are expected to be appointed until at least 2022/23

23. Land at Dore Avenue

Page 21






Housing development site in the emerging Local Plan
Potential for a ribbon of properties (approximately 12No.) whilst retaining some
open space
Likely to suit Shared Ownership
Overview of Progress: No progress to report at this stage. No architecture
services are expected to be appointed until at least 2022/23

CONCLUSION
24. Work continues to progress on a variety of Fareham Housing development schemes.
These are all aimed at contributing towards the objectives contained in the adopted
Affordable Housing Strategy. The projects in the pipeline are increasingly varied. This
includes larger regeneration projects, redevelopment opportunities and smaller infill
sites (the latter ideal for bespoke housing need).
25. Working closely with colleagues in the Council’s Finance Department, officers continue
to seek to maximise (and make best use of) the funding opportunities available. The
focus remains on quality driven outcomes, following the ‘right homes in the right places’
approach.
26. Future meetings of the Housing Scrutiny Panel will include regular updates on site
progress, normally through a presentation by the Head of Housing Delivery.

Appendices: None
Background Papers: None
Reference Papers: Affordable Housing Strategy (2019)
Enquiries:
For further information on this report please contact Robyn Lyons (Ext 4305)

Page 22

Agenda Item 8

Presentation to
The Housing Scrutiny Panel
Date:

28 October 2021

Subject:

RESPONSIBILITIES OF SOCIAL HOUSING PROVIDERS

SUMMARY
To receive a presentation from the Head of Housing & Benefits in relation to the responsibilities
of social housing providers; including the duties of the Regulator and Housing Ombudsman
Service.
RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that Members consider and note the contents of the presentation and make
any comments or raise any questions for clarification.

Page 23

Agenda Item 9

Report to
Housing Scrutiny Panel
Date

28 October 2021

Report of:

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Subject:

Cleaning contract standards for Council owned flats

.
SUMMARY
The purpose of this report is to outline the cleaning contract standards for Councilowned flats in the Borough and explain how these are monitored.
RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that the Panel notes the content of this report.

Page 25

INTRODUCTION
1. At its meeting on 7 December 2015, the Executive agreed to award the Corporate
Cleaning Contract to Hi Spec Services as the most economically and technically
advantageous tender received. The contract was awarded for a five-year period
starting on 1 April 2016 with a two-year extension option.
2. The contract is currently in the first year of the two-year extension and the Council
intend to prepare the necessary tender documents for the award of a new Corporate
Cleaning Contract from 1 April 2023.
SCOPE OF THE CONTRACT
3. The Corporate Cleaning Contract includes the following establishments:










Domestic Council-owned properties – c. 70 separate sheltered and non-sheltered
establishments where there are shared areas such as stairwells, lobbies,
reception areas, lounges, offices and toilets
Council depot – toilets, offices and associated rooms
Public conveniences across the Borough
Pavilions
Car Parks – toilets, offices and associated rooms along with stairwells, lifts and
lobbies
Town Centre – main shopping area of West Street
Civic Offices – window cleaning and deep cleaning of carpets and kitchens
Streetscene Operations Team rest rooms
Daedalus – Control tower, visitors’ cabin, toilets, offices and associated rooms

4. Broadly speaking, the following tasks are undertaken and categorised as:










General cleaning of offices and associated rooms
Cleaning housing communal areas, car parks, lobbies and stairwells
Sports changing rooms
Cleaning public toilets, along with opening and closing
Window cleaning
Cleaning of wheeled refuse bins
Gum removal and specialist street washing
Single ad-hoc clean-up operations, such as total house cleans
Cleaning of car parks, control room and ticket machine covers

5. Whilst the overall contract management is the responsibility of the Public Spaces
Operations Manager who is a member of the Streetscene department, the day-to-day
operational management is undertaken by individual managers within the relevant
services. For domestic Council-owned properties, this responsibility falls to the
Neighbourhood Manager within the Housing department. The rest of this report
concentrates on this element of the contract only.
SCOPE OF WORKS FOR COMMUNAL AREAS (GENERAL PURPOSE AND
SHELTERED HOUSING)
6. The contract sets out the cleaning requirements to all external and internal surfaces,
fixtures and fittings included within all communal entrance ways, lobbies, staircases,

Page 26

landings and bin stores (along with communal wheeled bins). It also includes
communal lounges, offices, kitchens and toilets/shower rooms in our Sheltered
Housing schemes.
7. The service provider has provided a detailed schedule which provides information on
which site gets cleaned on which day, enabling residents to know when the cleaning is
to be carried out.
8. The frequency of the cleaning tasks is specified in the contract. In summary, the tasks
are undertaken as follows:
Location

Frequency

Task

Stairwell flooring & walls

Weekly

Regular cleaning

Stairwell flooring

Monthly

Deep cleaning

Lobby areas outside flat doors

Weekly

Regular cleaning

Communal bin stores/areas

Weekly

Regular cleaning

Communal bin stores/areas

Monthly

Deep cleaning

Communal refuse bins

3 times annually (May,
September and March)

Clean

Handrails and balustrades

Weekly

Regular cleaning

Conduits/Downpipes/Bulkhead
lights/Signage

Twice annually

Clean

Communal
windowsills/Frames/Ledges

Quarterly

Clean

Communal doors

Monthly

Clean

Entrances/Porch areas flooring
and steps

Weekly

Spot clean

Entrances/Porch areas flooring
and steps

Monthly

Clean

Meter Cupboards

Twice annually

Clean

Toilets/Bathrooms/Shower
Daily
Rooms –
Doors/Fixtures/Fittings/Sanitaryware

Regular Cleaning

Toilets/Bathrooms/Shower
Rooms – Walls

Weekly

Regular Cleaning

Scooter Stores

Monthly

Clean

Page 27

Lounges/day
rooms/conservatories – floors

Daily

Regular Cleaning

Lounges/day
rooms/conservatories –
Walls/Furniture/Fittings

Weekly

Regular Cleaning

Lifts

Twice weekly

Regular Cleaning

Windows – general purpose
housing

Quarterly

Cleaning of internal and
external communal
glazed areas

Windows – sheltered housing

Quarterly

Cleaning of external
communal glazed areas

Windows – sheltered housing

Twice annually

Cleaning of internal
communal glazed areas

Windows – sheltered housing

Quarterly

Cleaning of external
domestic glazed areas

9. All cleaning operatives are required to log their attendance at each site via an App and
are also able to upload photographs of the work carried out.
PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT
10. Feedback is obtained from tenant and leaseholder representatives (circa 50
individuals) and housing staff and is collated to give an overall satisfaction rate.
Additionally, all tenants and leaseholders are encouraged to provide feedback, with
regular information on how to do so included in our newsletters.
11. The satisfaction levels for block cleaning for the past two years are shown below:
Period

Task

October 2019
to September
2020

General
cleaning

411

355

86%

Window
cleaning

37

21

57%

General
cleaning

483

447

93%

Window
cleaning

69

49

71%

October 2020
to September
2021

Number of
Number of
inspections/feedback reports
cards received
marked as
‘satisfactory’

Page 28

%
satisfaction
rate

12. Quarterly meetings are held with officers, tenant representatives and the service
provider to discuss the overall performance and specific issues that may have arisen.
13. In recent months, there has been a particular problem reported regularly at one of our
maisonette blocks which resulted in observations of the cleaning regimes being made
by the Neighbourhood Manager. It was found that the operatives had not been
supplied with the correct equipment to carry out some elements of their work and
following a discussion with the Contracts Manager, new equipment has been
purchased and the work is now being carried out to a satisfactory standard.
14. The relatively poor satisfaction rate for window cleaning has led to a new arrangement
with the service provider, which is due to commence this month (October 2021).
Officers will monitor progress and results will be discussed with the Contracts
Manager at the quarterly meetings.
RISK ASSESSMENT
15. There are no significant risk considerations in relation to this report
CONCLUSION
16. This report has provided Panel Members with an update on the cleaning contract for
Council-owned properties.

Enquiries:
For further information on this report please contact Caroline Newman. (Ext. 4645)

Page 29

Agenda Item 10

Report to
Housing Scrutiny Panel
Date

28 October 2021

Report of:

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Subject:

First Homes Scheme Update

.
SUMMARY
To provide an update on the First Homes scheme following a presentation from the
Head of Housing Delivery in relation to the introduction of First Homes at the Panel
meeting in September.
RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that the Panel considers and notes the contents of the report and
make any comments or raise any questions for clarification.

Page 31

INTRODUCTION
1. First Homes is a new Affordable Home Ownership product introduced by Government
through a Written Ministerial Statement and update to the Planning Practice Guidance
on 24th May 2021.
2. A presentation at the September Housing Scrutiny Panel outlined the First Homes
product, including the potential for Local Eligibility requirements and the implications to
traditional affordable housing delivery.
3. This update report builds on the information provided in the First Homes presentation
at the September Housing Scrutiny Panel meeting, providing further detail on the
introduction of First Homes and local eligibility criteria that can be applied.
FIRST HOMES CRITERIA
4. First Homes is a new type of affordable home ownership, introduced by the
Government in May this year. Both Shared Ownership and First Homes are affordable
home ownership products. First Homes will sit alongside Shared Ownership as an
alternative affordable home ownership product.
5. For a home to be classified as a First Home, it must satisfy several criteria. First
Homes;
(a)

Must be newly built homes at first classification (by developers)

(b)

Must be offered at a minimum of 30% discount on the market price

(c)

Must remain discounted - discount stays with the property in perpetuity

(d)

Must be capped at £250,000 on initial/ first sale (outside of London) (once initial
discount has been applied)

6. A qualifying purchaser of a First Home also must satisfy national criteria. A First Home
purchaser;
(a)

Must be a first-time buyer

(b)

Must purchase the property as their main residence

(c)

Must need a mortgage or equivalent for at least 50% of the discounted purchase
price

(d)

Must be able to put down a minimum 5% deposit

(e)

Must not have a household income of more than £80,000 (outside of London)

LOCAL ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA
7. In addition to the national criteria, Local Authorities can set and administer local
criteria. There are however some important points to note about local eligibility
criteria:
a) Any local eligibility criteria would only apply for the first 3 months of marketing.
After 3 months, any of the homes not reserved or sold revert to the national criteria for
the remaining 3 months of marketing
Page 32

b) Any local eligibility criteria would not apply to members of the armed forces or their
spouse/ civil partner, the spouse/ civil partner of a deceased member of the armed
forces (if death caused by service) or veterans within five years of leaving the armed
forces
8. The local eligibility criteria can include the following:
a) Local connection test
i)

ii)

A local connection test can be a restriction which links the applicant to the
application area for a specified length of time. It would enable the Council to
initially prioritise applicants who have a connection with Fareham borough.
A local connection criterion could include a minimum time that an applicant
is required to have lived or worked in Fareham. It could also consider
immediate family connections. The Council already uses established local
connection as a qualification criterion to join the housing register for rented
accommodation. To join the housing register with a local connection, one or
more of the following needs to apply:


They live in the Borough in settled housing arrangements and have done so
continuously for at least 2 years immediately prior to their application



They are employed in the Borough. Employment must be permanent in
nature and for a minimum of 16 hours per week



They need to move to the area to be near to a close member of their family
to give or receive essential care and support. The family member must live
in the Borough and have been resident continuously for 5 years or more



They can demonstrate a strong local connection to the Borough



They need to move to receive specialist care and support, which can only
be accessed within the Borough of Fareham
A local connection test for First Homes would be straightforward for the
Council to implement since one is already in existence for the housing
register. Using the same local connection test for First Homes would align
the criteria to apply for a First Home in the borough with the local connection
criteria to apply to join the housing register for rented accommodation.
Officers would recommend introducing a local connection test that aligns
with the housing register. This can be monitored and reviewed once we
have some First Homes in the borough.

b) Key Workers
i)

Local eligibility criteria also allows the Council to include a priority for key
workers. The Council could prioritise applicants with certain occupations for
the homes, for the first 3 months of marketing. The most recent example of
a key worker definition is the list provided by government for jobs essential
to continue during the recent lockdowns for COVID. This extensive list
includes:

Page 33











All NHS and social care staff
Essential public services staff
Public safety and national security staff
Transport and border workers
Critical personnel in the production and distribution of food, drink, and
essential goods
Local and national government staff
Funeral industry workers
Frontline local authority staff and volunteers
Utilities, communication, and financial services staff

ii)

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) provides a definition of
essential local workers. It includes all frontline public sector roles; NHS,
education, public safety, national security, and child/social care.

iii)

The option for local key worker eligibility criteria allows the Council the
opportunity to prioritise First Homes for occupations performing essential
services in the borough. However, the only key worker definitions currently
available are at a national level in the NPPF and to identify national
essential workers during the COVID lockdowns. It is likely that the Council
would want to amend these lists for a local focus if a key worker criterion
was to be considered.

iv)

Officers have recommended a local connection test for First Homes. There
is a current local connection test definition, which includes working in the
borough. If implemented, this would enable local key workers to be
prioritised for First Homes as part of this definition. A specific key worker
definition requires further investigation and officers would recommend that in
the first instance First Homes with a local connection priority is reviewed
before introducing another local criterion.

NATIONAL ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA
9. In addition to the local eligibility criteria, there is the option to amend some of the
national eligibility criteria, if supported by evidence.
a) Reduced household income cap
i)

The national income cap for a First Homes applicant, outside of London, is
£80,000. This means that a household with an income of up to £80,000 can
access a First Home. If a Local Authority can demonstrate that this cap should
be lower, the new cap can be applied in the first 3 months of marketing. Any
homes not reserved or sold within 3 months would revert to the national cap of
£80,000.

ii)

£80,000 income cap is the same as the income cap for established affordable
home ownership products, such as shared ownership. It could therefore be
argued that the suitability of this cap for First Homes has already to some
extent been tested.

Page 34

iii)

The £250k First Home discounted property price might allow for a 3-bed semidetached home in some areas of the borough. With the minimum 5% deposit
required for a First Home, the mortgage payments on this home would likely be
over £1,100 a month for a standard 25-year mortgage period. To afford this
home a household would require an income more than £50k. These estimates
assume the household would have no other loans. With other loans the income
required would be even higher. The household in question would still be using a
significant amount of their household income for mortgage payments. There is
a concern that First Homes, particularly 3-bedroom homes, would not be
affordable to households on lower incomes.

iv)

The Council is required to carry out further research if it wishes to justify and
apply a reduced household income cap. Officers would recommend that
monitoring of the purchasers of First Homes is undertaken in the first instance
so that actual income levels of purchasers can be reviewed.

b) Reduced price cap
i)

The price cap of £250k for a discounted First Home outside of London can also
be reduced if local evidence can demonstrate the need for this. There is the
option for the price cap to be lowered for short periods of time if local conditions
require.

ii)

With relatively high house prices in the borough, Officers would recommend
that the price cap is not reduced at this time. This should be reviewed once
there is some data on First Homes. The discounted price cap of £250k could,
at present, allow for 3-bedroom homes in some areas of the borough. A lower
price cap would reduce the likelihood of larger homes under this scheme. First
Homes are however for first time buyers and we have limited information on the
size of homes required. Data from Help to Buy South for affordable home
ownership products, such as shared ownership, would suggest that 2-bedroom
homes are the most sought after, but there is also some need for larger family
homes. Officers would recommend that the price cap is reviewed once data of
First Homes in the borough is available.

c) Deeper minimum discount
i)

The minimum discount required of 30% of market value can be increased to
40% or 50% if there is local evidence to support this need. The discount would
stay with the property in perpetuity, secured through a planning obligation. This
discount would apply to the entire Borough.

ii)

A deeper discount could enable a wider range of property types for First Homes
in areas of high house prices. Fareham does have relatively high house prices,
however the discount of 30% is likely to allow for some 3-bedroom properties in
some areas to be possible. First Homes are for first time buyers and we would
expect most of the need to be for smaller accommodation. A higher discount is
also likely to impact on the viability of First Homes and ultimately result in fewer
affordable homes being built.

Page 35

iii)

Officers would not recommend considering a deeper discount unless evidence
from reviewing First Homes schemes completed in the borough suggests
otherwise. Following government guidance on First Homes, this investigation
would be more suited to future Local Plan reviews where the wider viability
implications could be considered.

PLANNING IMPLICATIONS
10. Various transition periods apply before First Homes will be fully applied through the
planning system.
Development Management/Planning Applications
11. From 28th December 2021, on new developments which meet the threshold for
affordable housing contributions (10 or more dwellings or sites of 0.5 hectares or
more), 25% of the affordable homes should be First Homes. Before this date there is
no requirement for First Homes in planning applications, although developers can
propose First Homes. Where a proposed development has had significant preapplication work, First Homes will not be required on these planning applications until
28th March 2022.
Local Plan
12. The Council submitted the New Local Plan to the Planning Inspectorate on 30th
September 2021. The transition period which applies to First Homes means that there
is no need to include First Homes in the New Local Plan. It is likely that First Homes
will need to be considered whenever the Local Plan is subsequently reviewed.
AFFORDABLE HOUSING IMPLICATIONS
13. As outlined to Housing Scrutiny Panel members in September, the introduction of First
Homes has the potential to reduce the delivery of Affordable Rent homes through the
planning system. This is due to the First Homes 25% requirement on any major
development having to be met first, with the remaining affordable homes then split by
Affordable Rent to Shared Ownership in the normal way.
14. For example, currently a planning application for 100 homes would be required to
provide 40% affordable housing (i.e., 40 units), 65% of which should be for rent and
35% for affordable home ownership. A policy compliant scheme would therefore be
26 affordable rent units and 14 shared ownership units. A planning application for 100
homes after December 2021/ March 2022 (depending on pre application work) would
be required to provide at least 25% of the 40 affordable homes for First Homes (10
units). The remainder of the 30 affordable homes would then need to be split into 65%
rented units and 35% shared ownership units. This would mean 10 First Homes, 20
affordable rented units and 10 shared ownership units.
15. The above example shows that First Homes will reduce the amount of Affordable Rent
homes delivered on new build sites, and to a lesser extent shared ownership homes.
A further worked example has been provided below:

Page 36

Example 1 – 20-unit scheme
Working
40% Affordable in line with
Policy CS18
25% First Homes
Remaining 6 units split as
65% affordable rent and 35%
affordable home ownership
Resulting Tenure Split

Result
8 affordable units
2 units
4 units as affordable rent and 2 units as
affordable home ownership.
2 First Homes, 4 Affordable Rent and 2
Affordable Home Ownership.

16. The New Local Plan, which has now been submitted and is at Examination stage,
includes an affordable housing policy which specifically requires Social Rent homes
(the most affordable of affordable homes). The 10% Social Rent requirement would be
protected. This means that First Homes and Social Rent will be cut from the
affordable housing provision first, before splitting the remainder into just over 60%
Affordable Rent units and 40% Shared Ownership units. Once the new Local Plan is
adopted this policy will apply which will slightly reduce the detrimental impact to
traditional affordable housing delivery caused by First Homes.
RISK ASSESSMENT
17. There are no significant risk considerations in relation to this report
CONCLUSION
18. Whilst we still do not have all the details to implement First Homes, First Homes is now
part of the planning system. Officers therefore suggest an interim policy with some
local criteria is put in place, ideally by early 2022. Officers can then conduct more
research around the affordability and cap implications, whilst also monitoring any
uptake in First Homes, before an updated First homes policy can then later be brought
in if appropriate or necessary (2022/23). This will also allow this new housing product
to settle, and some of the currently unclear elements of how it will work to be
established nationally.
19. We will continue to investigate whether it would be beneficial for additional criterion to
be applied to First Homes in the borough, as new information emerges.
20. In due course an interim First Homes policy will be developed for consideration by the
Council’s Executive.
Appendices: None
Background Papers: None
Reference Papers:
Optimising Social Housing – Applications and Allocations Policy
Enquiries: For further information on this report please contact Helen Farnham. (Ext
4498)

Page 37

